FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
2/22/2022 8:00 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/22/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100670-5

No. 54507-1-11

# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

Allen and Nikkala McPherson

Appellant

V

Eric Betten

Michael McPherson

Estate of Julia H.Betten

Respondent

# PETITION TO REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

ALLEN MCPHERSON
NIKKALA MCPHERSON
PRO SE
PO BOX 1097
WOODLAND 98674
360 901 1362

####

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Allen and Nikkala McPherson asks this court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In an unpublished opinion the court affirms
Superior courts decision of a summary judgment
in a Quiet Title. This opinion was filed on
January 19, 2022. A copy of this is in the
Appendix

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

No. 1The Appellate Court erred in affirming Superior Courts summary judgment in the foreclosure as barred by collateral estoppel. It is a violation of due process for a judgment to be binding on a named litigant who was not party to or privy therefore has never had opportunity to be heard. Blonder v Tongue 402 U.S. at 329

First, on page 7 of the appellate courts opinion states Nikkala was party to the foreclosure as an unnamed defendant. This is incorrect. Nikkala was a named defendant and did not receive a summons.

In the quiet title action on January 15, 2020 this was argued by Attorney Craig Kennedy. Allen and Nikkala (married) did not live together therefore service on Nikkala had not been had. Nikkala was not privy to the foreclosure and only found out after the fact. See transcription in appendix. Second, she has a judgment against her with Allen for over 600,000.00 dollars from the foreclosure and a separate sanction to given to only Nikkala for 5,000.00 for attempting to bring evidence to the courts attention defend herself and Allen during the quiet title action. Copies of the judgments are in the appendix.

No.2 Appellate Court erred and gave an opinion and affirmed both Superior Courts summary judgments. Which was improper.

Summery Judgment is if there is no genuine dispute. In both foreclosure and quiet title there was question of dispute. Superior court erred in allowing the case to move forward when originally filed. The court did not verify if the note was valid.

- 1. Statute of limitations had passed 6 yrs. to collect promissory note.(RCW 4.16)
- 2. Plaintiff claimed Allen was in default and had never made a payment. Although if one was to read the note it states no payments or installments.
- 3. Deed of Trust- Appointed trustee for the deed was Cascade Title agent Janie Ray. She was directed by Carl Betten to release deed in October 2008. This made both the promissory note and deed of trust void by transfer. ((RCW 62A.3-203)

No. 3 Superior court failed to ensure Nikkala's right to due process as a named defendant.

1. When foreclosure was filed Plaintiffs knew who Nikkala was. Both Plaintiffs Michael and Eric were at Allen and Nikkala's wedding in 1988. They also are trustee for Margaret (Allen and Nikkala's daughter) a beneficiary of the Julia Betten estate and had regular contact with her. To locate Nikkala would have been very easy by asking Margaret. Plaintiffs misled the court by calling Nikkala Jane Doe McPherson (his Wife).

They chose not to serve Nikkala with a summons or complaint. The court also erred by not assuring all defendants were notified. In quiet title action Attorney Craig Kennedy argued these facts and the court ignored him and still granted summary judgment. (See appendix transcribed information of quiet title hearing).

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Between Superior Courts errors and Personal Representatives Eric Betten and Michael McPherson intentional fraudulent actions combined has caused Nikkala to be discriminated against and has impaired her ability to assert her rights and bring forth the truth of the fact that the property in Woodland was given to Allen by Carl and Julia Betten. There has been so many lies told in this case with the help of Eric and Michael's attorney.

Superior Court failed to verify evidence from the beginning when the complaint was filed in August of 2015. If that had been done we would not be here today.

## E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This review should be accepted because it would be a miscarriage of justice to not hear the all issues. This review should be accepted to for the reason that laws were broken and over looked by superior court. If Nikkala had been given the opportunity to be heard from the beginning we would not be here asking for a review.

### F. CONCLUSION

The relief sought is if the court granted this review it would remedy the harm. We ask that this is to make us whole as we were before this case was filed against us.