FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/30/2022 12:15 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100670-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 54507-1)

ERIC C. BETTEN and MICHAEL R. MCPHERSON,

as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of Julia H. Betten, Deceased

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

ALLEN MCPHERSON and NIKKALA L. MCPHERSON, husband and wife, and the marital community comprised thereof; and J. DOES 1-10 and all other occupants of 1148 S. Pekin Rd., Woodland Washington 98674,

Defendants/Appellants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Bradley S. Wolf, WSBA No. 21252 BAUMAN & WOLF, PLLC Post Office Box 2095 Tacoma, Washington 98401 Attorneys for Respondents

I. INTRODUCTION
II. IDENTITY OF THE RESPONDENT
III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV. ARGUMENT
A. The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with the published decisions of the Court of Appeals and this Court
B. The case involves no significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitution
C. The case involves no issue of substantial public interest 5
VI. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Washington Cases
Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist No. 1., 152 Wn.2d 299, 96 P.3d 957 (2004)
Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)4
Statutes, Court Rules, and Municipal Ordinances
RAP 13.4(b)3
RCW 5.60.0306

I. INTRODUCTION

This matter originated with a loan from Mr. Carl Betten to Appellant Allen McPherson to buy a mobile home and piece of land in Cowlitz County. The loan was made through a promissory note and deed of trust against the property. The property was acquired in Mr. McPherson's separate estate. The loan went into default. Mr. Betten passed away. The interest went to his wife, Julia H. Betten. She passed away. Her Personal Representatives (Respondents) then brought a judicial foreclosure in 2015.

Appellant Allen McPherson was represented by legal counsel in the case. He defended the case on claim that the loan proceeds were intended as a "gift," and other defenses. The court ultimately granted the Personal Representatives/Respondents summary judgment. An order of sale was issued. The property was auctioned by the Sheriff. Respondents bid with a a portion of their judgment and were successful at the auction. The sale was confirmed. The Sheriff's deed was recorded. Appellant Allen McPherson did not file any appeal.

Following these events, Appellant Allen McPherson still refused to relinquish possession of the property. He claimed that the prior litigation was invalid because the property was either community property, or that his marital community had an interest, and that his estranged wife of 21 years was never served with the proceedings.

The Respondents therefore commenced a second quiet title action against the Appellants in 2018. This is the case on which this appeal is based. The Appellants were both served. Both were represented by counsel. But (again), a summary judgment was granted confirming title in Respondents.

The 2015 case was binding on Respondent Nikkala McPherson on a variety of grounds. First, because title in the property was taken in Allen McPherson *in his separate estate*, making his wife Nikkala McPherson not a necessary party. Second, because she was nevertheless identified as a "Jane Doe," defendant, and Allen McPherson had a right to defend the case for the community (if any). Also, in the 2015 case, Respondents filed a lis pendens, published the summons against all "unknown" parties, and then obtained a default against such parties, which would have included Nikkala McPherson.

Separate and apart from the issues of *res judicata* from the original lawsuit, in the 2018 quiet title action, Ms. McPherson had an opportunity to present any substantive defenses to summary judgment, to show if she even had any interest in the property, which she did this through legal counsel. And which were then found to be baseless.

Respondents legal counsel withdrew. The Appellants then pursued an appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division II.

In a unanimous unpublished decision, that was issued without oral argument on, January 19, 2022, the decision of the superior court was affirmed in all respects. The Appellants then filed an untimely Motion for Discretionary Review before this court.

II. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

The respondents are Eric C. Betten and Michael R. McPherson, as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of Julia H. Betten, Deceased.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For their Statement of the Case, Respondents adopt the Unpublished decision of January 19, 2022, submitted herewith.

IV. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) provides that the following considerations govern acceptance of review:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

However, the Appellants have failed to address *any* of those factors in their Petition for Review. We will address them here.

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with the published decisions of the Court of Appeals and this Court.

In their Petition, the Appellants have reasserted a variety of defenses that either *were* or *could have been* asserted in the 2015 case. These include the claim that the statute of limitations had passed, that the court did not verify if the note was valid, or assertion that the promissory note called for no payments (a *non sequitur*). The Court of Appeals held that the previous 2015 litigation was binding on the Appellants on the grounds of *res judicata*, citing the case of *Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist. No 1*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 96 P.3d 957 (2004).

The 2015 case was binding on Allen McPherson, as a direct participant. Respondents also offered multiple arguments for why it was binding on Nikkala McPherson, as well. These included Allen McPhersons right to represent the community in the case, and the fact that she was served by publication as an unknown defendant, and then defaulted.

Appellants offered the court no contravening authority. And thus, Pg. 6 of the Opinion notes that: "We need not consider arguments that are not supported by citations to the record or legal authority. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)."

And just as they cited no such authority to the Court of Appeals, they have likewise not cited any authority to *this court* either. The Appellants have failed to demonstrate that the decision of the Court of

Appeals is inconsistent with any published decision of this court or the Court of Appeals.

B. The case involves no significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitution.

The Petition makes no reference to either the Washington or the U.S. Constitution. The closest that the Appellants makes to a constitutional claim is that the due process rights of Nikkala McPherson were violated in the 2015 case because the Respondents should have served her in person rather than by publication.

Appellants' Petition claims that "Plaintiff misled the court by calling Nikkala Jane Doe McPherson (his wife)." And for proof that Respondents knew her name and that they were married, Appellants cite to a claim that Respondents attended their wedding in 1988.

However, the action was filed in 2015, some 27 years after this marriage. The Appellants have conceded that they lived separate and apart from 1994 forward, following a dissolution that was filed but never completed. Opinion Pg. 2. And in his answer to the complaint, Allen McPherson falsely stated that he was "unmarried." See Opinion, bottom Pg. 2, citing CP 81.

These facts provide no basis for Appellants to believe the McPhersons were still married. As such, there is no reason why service

upon her as an unknown party was not valid. No due process violations are shown here, and no issue of constitutionality arises in this case.

C. The case involves no issue of substantial public interest.

Lastly, no issue of substantial public interest in this case exists. The crux of the Appellant's defense is the assertion that although signing a promissory note and a duly acknowledged deed of trust, that the loan made by the decent was intended to be a "gift." This is a commonly made claim against a decedent, because after someone passes away, there is no one who can refute the claim. And therefore, in the interests of fraud prevention, some iteration of the "Dead Man's Statute," RCW 5.60.030, has existed on the books as early as 1854, less than a year after Washington was formed as a territory.

This venerated and time-tested statute presents no special or unique issues in this case. There simply is no substantial public interest here.

V. CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Appellants have had their day in court. And not just one day in one court, but two separate actions in Clark County in 2015 and 2018. They were represented by counsel. The issues were fairly put forth and adjudicated. And then again before the Court of Appeals.

Appellants never pursued an appeal of the case back in 2015. And they never filed a timely petition for review before this court. The Appellants clearly feel aggrieved by the loss of their mobile home. But

they have offered neither the Court of Appeals nor this court any legal basis for overturning these judgments. The Petition for Review should be denied.